
 
 

Regular Meeting  
Monday, November 16, 2015 

Chowan County Public Safety Center 
305 West Freemason St. 

Edenton, NC  
6:00pm 

 
Present: Chairman Jeff Smith, Commissioners Keith Nixon, Greg Bonner, Alex Kehayes, 
Emmett Winborne and John Mitchener.  
 
Commissioner Ellis Lawrence was absent. 
 
Staff present: County Manager Kevin Howard, Finance Officer Willie Carawan, County 
Attorney Lauren Arizaga-Womble and Clerk Susanne Stallings. 
 
Regular Meeting 
Chairman Smith called the regular meeting to order and led all in attendance in the pledge of 
allegiance. He then offered the invocation. 
 
Approval of Agenda 
Chairman Smith noted an amendment to the agenda to add Dr. Mason with EIC for an 
introduction and Marry Morris for an introduction and to remove the closed session.  
Commissioner Nixon moved to approve the agenda as amended. Chairman Smith asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Public Comment 
Chairman Smith then opened the floor to public comment in accordance with NCGS 154A-52.1.  
He noted that the maximum time allotted would be 3 minutes. 
 
Kristy LaLonde 330 Sandy Ridge Road Edenton stated she has spoken with her neighbors 
regarding her concerns over the windmills. She stated she has received a warning to keep her 
mouth shut but she would not. She stated she wanted to provide the Board with a news article 
stated that Wisconsin Wind Turbines have been declared a health hazard. She stated the Board 
should not ignore the facts. She requested that the Board take 4-6 months to perform studies and 
have the developer pay for the studies. A copy of the article is in the meeting file labeled 
November 16, 2015. 
 
Harriet DeHart 112 Horniblow Point Road Edenton stated she visited a wind facility in 
Wisconsin. She stated that Board members have indicated they could not visit a facility. She 
stated she collected information from her visit and would like to make a presentation to the 
Board of Commissioners. 
 



Jamey White 411 Sandy Ridge Road Edenton stated he did not know much about turbines bur he 
felt it was important to examine the health challenges that may be present. He stated his wife has 
health problems and that concerns him. 
 
Mary White 411 Sandy Ridge Road Edenton stated she would like for the Board to do research 
on the wind turbines for approving the project.  She stated the project seems hazardous. She 
stated she did not want anyone’s health to be affected negatively. 
 
Earl Willis 107 West Church Street Edenton stated he has heard information regarding the wind 
turbines. He stated he spoke with a friend who is familiar with this type of project. He stated he 
was told the Board should pause and consider all of the effects of a wind energy facility.  
 
Ethel Copeland 936 Greenhall Road Edenton stated she was not in favor of the current wind 
energy ordinance and urged the Board to look into revising it. She stated she wanted a one mile 
setback from the turbines. 
 
Economic Improvement Council (EIC) Update 
Dr. Landon Mason Executive Director of the EIC in Edenton provided the Board with 
information on the County profile for Chowan County.  He noted the services provided to 
Chowan County residents total $1,399,023.94 was spent during the 2014-15 year. A copy of the 
brochure and EIC handout are in the meeting file labeled November 16, 2015. 
 
Commissioner Winborne asked for clarification on a local allotment of funds. 
 
Mr. Mason stated that the allotment is not decided per County. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked if there is information on the reduction of poverty in Chowan 
County since EIC began its services. 
 
Mr. Mason stated that EIC is taking a proactive approach to minimize poverty and empower its 
clients. 
 
Board members thanked Mr. Mason for his presentation. 
 
Extension Introduction 
Extension Director Mary Morris introduced the Board to Matthew Leary the newest Ag Agent 
for Chowan County. 
 
Consent Agenda 
Chairman Smith then presented the consent agenda. 



 
 
Mr. Carawan noted this budget amendment is being presented as FYI. Board members by 
consent agreed to allow the budget amendment to be handled as a management budget 
amendment as approved by the budget officer. 
 
COA Presentation 
COA President Kandi Deitemeyer provided the Board with a highlight update on the new brand 
for COA. Information on the 2016-2021 Strategic Plan. Information on the plan is in the meeting 
file labeled November 15, 2015. Dr. Deitemeyer provided the Board with a YouTube video link 
with additional branding information. 
 
Chairman Smith stated he liked the new brand. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated he appreciated the early college programs that are being offered to 
the high school students. He stated this is a great savings for parents of children who plan to 
attend universities in North Carolina. 
 
Paving Request and COA Capital Fund Consideration 
Joe Turner stated he has worked with the County Maintenance Director to pave the parking lot at 
COA. He stated that there is a potential for savings if the paving is grouped into other paving 
projects that the County is planning. He stated the plan is to seal and restripe the parking lot. He 
stated the cost is $5,984.70. 
 
Commissioner Nixon moved to approve the capital request. Chairman Smith asked for all in 
favor the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Mr. Turner stated that he would like for the Board to also consider raising the threshold for 
capital projects up to $7,500. He stated that he is working to develop a capital improvement plan 
for the Board of Commissioners to review annually however for projects like this, he has to go 
before the buildings and grounds committee before he can go before the Commissioners for 
approval and this delays getting the work done. 
 
Chairman Smith stated he would be ok with $10,000 being the threshold.  
 



Commissioner Bonner moved to approve the request from COA to increase the capital project 
approval threshold to $10,000. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked how the Board would be informed. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that COA would provide him with the invoice and once he approves the 
project it would be in the next meeting packet for the Commissioners as FYI. 
 
The Board discussed previous discussions regarding Board members concerns with capital 
monies being spent on current expense needs. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that if a request appears to be controversial, he will use his best judgement 
and bring it back to the Board. 
 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Salary Study Discussion 
Mr. Howard provided the Board with updated salary study information. He stated his concern 
with stating there would be excess revenue in FY 2015-16. He stated that Building Inspections 
revenue is already at 100% and there are other areas where savings will be realized. He stated he 
needed to know from the Board what they are willing to spend. 
 
Chairman Smith stated he was glad to hear the County was not as deficient on salaries as 
previously told. 
 
Mr. Howard noted this is a comparison to other counties without private salaries included. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked what a 1% COLA would be. 
 
Mr. Howard stated around $50,000. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked if that includes the Sheriff’s employees. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that not all employees in the Sheriff’s office received a salary adjustment 
under the career ladder program. 
 
Chairman Smith called for a 5 minute recess. After five minutes he called the meeting back to 
order. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that 1% of the general fund is $40,020 total salaries (including the Sheriff) is 
$57,855. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes asked what the Board wanted to accomplish. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated this was done after the Sheriff received approval for his 
department’s career ladder. 



 
Mr. Howard stated he was directed by the Board to provide this information and study the 10 
counties. 
 
Commissioner Bonner stated he understood that there are some employees who are due salary 
adjustments or raises and have not received them. He stated he did not want employees leaving 
because of their pay. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener asked how many employees were affected. 
 
Mr. Howard stated it is over ½ of the employees. 
 
The Board discussed Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) versus merit increases. 
 
Mr. Howard stated he would prefer it be merit based. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated the question is where the money will come from. 
 
Chairman Smith stated he felt the Board was going to wait for the audit. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener asked about the legal ramifications of merit based increases. 
 
Ms. Womble stated she could research this if the Board would like. 
 
Commissioner Nixon moved to allow the manager to use the equivalent of a 2% COLA 
($115,000) and bring back a plan that he would recommend to the next meeting. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes stated he would recommend not calling it a COLA because of the loss of 
COLA this year in Social Security. 
 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked that the Manager bring back a recommendation for new hires for 
post-employment benefits to address that liability. 
 
External Board and Committee Report 
Commissioner Nixon reported on the TDA Board activities. 
 
Commissioner Winborne noted the DF Walker Study Committee has held its first meeting. 
 
Chairman Smith noted that the ECP Director Frank Miglorie has announced his retirement and 
the ECP Board is searching for a replacement. 
 
Manager’s Report 
 
Hotel Hinton Oil Tank 



Mr. Howard reported that the oil tank at the Hotel Hinton is being added to the deed and once 
recorded that is done. 
 
Water Plant 
Mr. Howard reported that the violation at the Valhalla Plant S.O.C is still in the works.  
 
Commissioner Bonner stated that some residents have discussed substantial increases on their 
water bills. 
 
Mr. Howard stated he would look into it and noted that the increase is due to the needs at the 
plant, which are tied directly to the violation notice. 
 
Timely and Important Matters 
 
Bond Rating 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked about the County’s Bond rating. He asked the Manager to look into 
the current rating and bring back a recommendation to have the rating looked at again. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that he would contact a consultant to look into the rating and the process to 
have it looked at. 
 
 
Adjourn 
Being no further business, Commissioner Nixon moved that the meeting be adjourned. Chairman 
Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
 
 
____________________________    _________________________ 
Jeffery Smith       L. Susanne Stallings, Clerk 
Chairman 
 
 


